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Management board report 

The Managing Directors present their report together with the audited financia! statements of Repsol 

lnternational Finance B.V. (the 'Company') for the year ended 31 December 2024. All amounts in this 

Management board reportare presented in thousands of EUR, unless otherwise indicated. 

Generallnformatlon 

The Company is part of the Repsol Group, a group of companies which mission (its reason for being) is to be an 

energy company committed to a sustainable world and its vision (where it is heading) is to be a global energy 

company that, based on innovation, efficiency, and respect, creates va lue in a sustainable way for the progress of 

society. This commitment is reflected in Repsol's core values of "Efficiency, Respect, Anticipation, and Value 

Creation," which guide its operations and decision-making. Repsol also emphasizes "Orientation to Results, 

Responsibility, Entrepreneurial Attitude, lnspirational Leadership, and Collaboration" as key behaviours to achieve 

its mission and vision. The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Repsol, S.A., Madrid, Spain (the 'Parent 

Company'). 

The company's principal activity is to provide financing to other members of the Repsol Group. The company 

obtains its own funding through the issuance of subordinated bonds, bonds under a Euro Medium Term Note 

Programme, and loans from other Repsol Group companies. 

To support the Repsol Group's financia! requirements, the Company has established a Euro Medium Term Note 

Programme (EMTN Programme), which is jointly issued with Repsol Europe Finance S.a.r.l. and guaranteed by 

Repsol S.A. 

No new bonds were issued by the Company during 2024 under the EMTN Programme, but in 2024 the below 

listed bonds issued under the EMTN Programme had the following change: 

• A4-year bond issued bythe Company on 05 October 2020, in the amount of EUR 850 mi Ilion at 100,815% 

of the aggregate nominal amount with a fixed rate of 0,125%, matured and was repaid on 05 October 

2024. 

The outstanding bonds as at 31 December 2024 are the following: 

Nominal 

outstandlng Average 

ISIN number Bond Date lssue Currency (In Mllllons) rate% Marurlty Usted 

X5215658!394 EUROBOND 2025 111 15/04/2020 EUR 750 2.000% 15/12/2025 LuxSE 

X51148073205 EUROBONO 2026 111 10/12/2014 EUR 500 2,250% 10/12/2026 LU>6E 

X$2035620710 EURO BONO 2027 111 02/08/2019 EUR 750 0,250% 02/08/2027 LuxSE 

XS2156583259 EURO BONO 2030111 15/04/2020 EUR 750 2,625% 15/04/2030 LuxSE 

X$1352121724 EURO BONO 2031 111 27/01/2016 EUR 100 5,375% 27/01/2031 LuxSE 

XS1207058733 HYBRID 2015 10YR NC 121 25/03/2015 EUR 726 4,500% 25/03/2075 LuxSE 

XS2320533 131 HYBRIO 2021 6YR 111 22/03/2021 EUR 750 2,500% Undated LuxSE 

X$2185997884 HYBRID 2020 6YR NC 111 11/06/2020 EUR 750 3,750% Undated LuxSE 

XS218600!314 HYBRID 2020 8.5YR NC lll 11/06/2020 EUR 750 4,247% Undated LuxSE 

5.826 

Note: 

(1) lssues made unfer the EMTN Program, secured by Repsol, S.A. and for a maximum of €13.000 million. 

(l )Subordinated bond (does not correspond to any open-ended or shelf program) with a coupon that will be revsied on March 251 2025 and March 25, 2045. 
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The details of these subordinated bond issues are as follows: 

• In 2020 the Company issued two series of subordinated bonds guaranteed by Repsol S.A. for a total 

amount of 1.5 billion euros of a perpetua! nature or without a maturity date, redeemable at t he issuer's 

request starting from the sixth and eight h year respectively, or in certain circumstances set forth in the 

terms and conditions. 

• In 2021 the Company issued a series of subordinated bonds guaranteed by Repsol S.A. for a tota l amount 

of 750 million euros, with a perpetua! nature or without a maturity date, redeemable at the issuer's 

request starting from the sixth year, or in certain circumstances set forth in the terms and conditions. 

The bonds have been placed among qualified investors and are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. 

Regarding the bonds with undated maturity, the issuer retains the option to defer coupon payments in 
accordance with the terms and conditions of the issuance. Such deferra ls will not be considered an event of 
default. Deferred coupon payments will accrue and must be settled under certain condit ions, as specified in the 
bond's terms and conditions. 

Corporate structure 

The Company holds no investments in other compa nies. 

Statement of compllance 

The financia! statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 have been prepared in accordance with IFRS 

Accounting Standards as adopted by the European Un ion and w ith Part 9 of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code. 

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable reporting principies of IFRS Accounting 

Standards as adopted by the European Union and with Part 9 of Book 2 ofthe Netherlands Civi l Code, the Financia! 

Statements give a true and fa ir view of the assets, liabilities, financia! position and Statement of lncome of the 

Company and the Company's Management Board Report includes a fair view of the development and 

performance of the business and the position of the Company, together with a description of the principal 

opportunit ies and risks associated with the expected development of the Company. 

Financlallnformation 

The Company made a profit of EUR 21.034 thousand (2023: EUR 15.691 thousand). 

The higher profit in 2024 is primarily attributed to stable interest income coupled with a decrease in interest 

expenses. The reduction in interest expenses resulted f rom the maturity of two bonds (in May 2023 and October 

2024), while income remained unchanged despite the expiration of two loans with Repsol S.A., as a new, more 

favourable loan agreement was secured with Repsol Financia! Trading S.A.R.L. 

Please refer to the Note 13 for further information regarding the company's financia! instruments. 

The issued and paid-i n sha re capital of t he Company amounts to EUR 300.577 thousand (2023: EUR 300.577 

thousand). 
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Total assets of the Company amount to EUR 6.618.240 thousand (2023: EUR 7.447.629 thousand). The decrease 

in total assets is primarily attributable to the expiration and maturity of the bond due in October 2024, with both 

the nominal value and accrued interest fully repaid. 

Risk management 

Taking into consideration the nature of the activities of the Company the most important category of risks to be 

considered are financia! risks. The Company identifies, evaluates, and mitigates financia! risks in close cooperation 

with its Parent Company's Financia! Risk Department. This department, with the aim to promote best practices, 

monitors and manages the financia! risks relating to the operations of the Company through interna! risk reports 

that analyse exposures by degree and magnitude of risks. 

The Company has procedures and policies in place to control risks related to financia! instruments. These policies 

and procedures include a clear segregation of duties between operating, settlement, accounting and controlling 

of all financia! instruments used. The management of the Company is involved in the risk management process. 

Management qualifies itself as risk averse. 

The main financia! risks are market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. 

Marketrisk 

The Company's activities expose it primarily to the market risks of changes in interest rates, credit ratings and 

currency exchange rates. Market risk (the risk of changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign 

exchange rates) will affect the Company's income or the value of its financia! instruments. 

lnterest rote risk 

The market value of the Company's net financing and net interest expenses could be affected as a consequence 

of interest rate fluctuations that could affect the interest income and interest costs of financia! assets and 

liabilities tied to floating interest rates, as well as the fair value of financia! assets and financialliabilities tied toa 

fixed interest rate. 

When considered appropriate, t he Company may decide to mitigate the interest rate risk by means of derivative 

financia! instruments for which there is a liquid market, these hedging mechanisms are limited and, therefore, 

could be insufficient. Consequently, changes in interest rates could have an adverse effect on the Company's 

business, results and financia! position. 

The Company effectively monitors and limits its net financia! position in financia! instruments tied to fixed interest 

rates. Furthermore, the Company effectively monitors and limits the interest rate spreads applied in order to 

ensure positive financia! margin irrespective of the fluctuations in interest rates. 

For further information, including quantitative information and sensitivity analysis, please refer to Notes 13 and 

14 of the financia! statements. 

Credit rating risk 
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Credit ratings affect the pricing and ather canditians under which the Campany is able ta abtain financing. Any 

dawngrade in the credit rating cauld restrict ar limit the Campany's access ta the financia! markets, increase its 

new barrawing casts and have a negative effect an its liquidity. 

As per 31 December 2024 the credit ratings assigned ta the Campany by the ratings agencies are as fallaws: 

AGENCY 
LONG-

SHORT-TERM OUTLOOK LAST REVIEW DATE 
TERM 

Standard & Paar's BBB+ A-2 Stable Navember 16, 2022 

Maady's Baa1 P-2 Stable December 20, 2022 

Fitch BBB+ F-1 Stable June 1, 2023 

Exchange rote f/uctuation risk 

Fluctuatians in exchange rates may adversely affect the result af transactions and the value af the Campany's 

equity. In general, this exposure ta fluctuatians in currency exchange rates stems from the fact that the Company 

has assets, liabilities and cash flaws denaminated in a cur rency ather than the functional currency af the 

Campany. 

In arder ta mitigate the risk, and when cansidered appropriate, the Campany perfarms investing and financing 

transactians, using the currency for which risk expasures have been identified. The Campany ca n alsa carry out 

transactians by means af financia! derivative instruments far currencies that have a liquid market, with reasanable 

transactian costs. 

The Campany effectively monitars and limits its net financia! positian in financia! instruments by currency. The 

Company effectively manitars and limits the expasure ta the statement af camprehensive in carne ta a minimum. 

The main uncertainty in achieving this abjective is the timing af cash flows. 

The campany daes not have any relevant balance in USD (2023 and 2024); therefare, this expasure ta foreign 

currency is limited. 

Far further infarmatian, including quantitative information and sensitivity analysis, please refer ta Notes 13 and 

14 af the financia ! statements. 

Creditrisk 

Credit risk is the risk af financialloss ta the Campany if a caunterparty toa financia! instrument fails ta meet its 

contractual obligatians. Credit risk arises principally from t he Campany's loans receivable fram re lated parties an 

interest rate spreads applied in arder ta ensure positive financia! margin irrespective of the fluctuations in interest 

ratesd unsettled derivatives whase fair value is positive. The Campany attempts ta minimize the caunterparty 

credit risk assaciated with the financia! instruments used by selecting counterparties that it assumes ta be 

creditworthy, given their high credit ratings. 
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The carrying amount of financia! assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The credit risk of each loan and 

receivable is influenced by the individual characteristics of each counterparty. The Company considers the 

probability of default u pon initial recognition of an asset and whether there has been a significant increase in the 

credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period. To assess whether there is a significant in crease 

in credit risk, the Company compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at the reporting date with the 

risk of default as at the date of initial recognition. lt considers available reasonable and supportive forwarding­

looking information. However, the Company is not exposed toa significant credit risk dueto the credit rating and 

liquidity of the debtors. No loan was overdue as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023. The derivative 

financia! instruments are entered into with high credit quality bank and financia! institution counterparties that 

meet the standards of solvency in accordance with the market conventions regulating these kinds of financia! 

transactions. The Company holds minimal amount of cash and banks, which are all held with bank and financia! 

institution counterparties. 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its 

financia! liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financia! asset. The Company's approach to 

managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when 

they are due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage 

to the Company's reputation. The Company controls and monitors its financia! needs ranging from the production 

of daily cash flow forecasts to the financia! planning involved in the annual budgets and Repsol Group's strategic 

plan; it maintains diversified and stable sources of financing that facilitate efficient access to financia! markets, all 

within the framework of a financing structure that is compatible with Repsol Group's credit rating in the 

investment grade category. As a result, the Company relies on its shareholder to cover any incidental liquidity 

needs through issuance of additionalloans. 

For further information, including quantitative information and sensitivity analysis, please refer to Notes 13 and 

14 of the financia! statements. 

Otherrisks 

The exposure to other than financia! risks is mainly dueto the fact that the Company is part of t he Repsol Group. 

Repsol Group's operations and results are subject to risks as a result of changes in the competitive, economic, 

political, legal, regulatory, social, industrial, business and financia! conditions. The Group's main risks are identified 

below taking into account a 5-year time horizon: 

• Financia! and market risks 

o Fluctuations in the reference prices of hydrocarbons, derivative products and other commodities. 

o Decrease in demand. 

• Strategic risks 

o Deviations from expected results in investment/disinvestment processes. 

• Regulatory and litigation risks. 
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o Regulatory changes (including tax). 

o Administrative and legal proceedings related to regulation. 

• Operational risks 

o Accident risk. 

o Organizational and employee management deviations. 

o Cyber-attack. 

o Deviations in the execution of investment projects. 

o Supply Chain. 

o Attacks against people or assets. 

So me of these risks are sensitive to the phenomenon of climate change and to the scenarios of transition toa low 

carbon economy, particularly those associated with regulation, future trends in demand, fluctua tions in 

hydrocarbon and other commodity prices and the potential upswing in competit ion. Given the emerging nature 

of the climate change risks in the current energy context, and consistently with the commitments made, the 

Repsol Group is extending the scope of the analysis of these risks according toa long-term time horizon. 

Corporate Governance 

The Company applies the same corporate governance principies as applied within Repsol Group. Repsol Group's 

system of corporate governance, which was established in accordance with best national and international 

practice and standards, guides the structure, organization, and operation of its corporate bodies in the interests 

of the Company and of its shareholder, and is based on the principies of transparency, independence, and 

responsibility. The interna! regulations of the Repsol Group regarding corporate governance are available on the 

website www.repsol.com. 

The board took into consideration Directive 2006/43/EC as amended by Directive 2014/56/EU and its 

implementation by Royal Decree of 8 December 2016, effective as of 1 January 2017 (the "Decree"). Pursuant to 

such current EU and Dutch legislation, every public interest entity (a "PIE") is required to have an audit committee. 

The Compa ny, because of its listed securities, qualifies as a PIE and is therefore, in principie, bound by th is 

obligation. However, since its Parent Company has an audit committee that complies with the requirements 

included in Directive 2006/43/EC as amended by Directive 2014/56/EU and Regulation (EU) No 537/2014, the 

Decree exempts the Company from the obligation to have its own audit committee, where there is a delegation 

of the public governance compl iance obligations as regards the Company to the Audit Committee of the Parent 

Company. 

For further information on Repsol Group's Corporate Governance, please refer to the Repsol Annual Corporate 

Governance Report for the financia! year 2024, available on the website www.repsol.com. 

Rlsk assessment lncludlng error and fraud 
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The Company identifies the main risks that could affect the financia! reporting objectives related to the existence 

or occurrence, integrity, assessment and allocation, presenta tion, breakdown of transactions and to the rights 

and obligations that could have a significant impact on the reliability of the financia! information. 

The following risks have been identified : 

• Regulatory changes that impact the financia! statements. 

• Va luations subject to analysis and complex estimates. 

• Late and improper detection of transactions with an impact on the f inancia! statements and inadequate 

analysis and va luation of transactions through existing processes, manual means, and systems. 

• Fraud in generating regulated financia! information. 

• Failure to comply with the requirements of economic and financia! reporting in due time and form. 

Repsol reiterates its commitment to strict compliance with regulations for the prevention and fight against 

corruption and fraud in all the ir forms, and it developed an lntegrity Policy w hich includes its express position on 

illegal conducts such as corruption, fraud and conflicts of interest in accordance with the Company's eth ical 

values. 

No instances of (interna! or externa!) fraud or any other matters are identified in this respect that hada material 

effect on the financia! statements. 

Ethics and Compllance 

The Company also applies the Repsol group Code of ethics and business conduct. The purpose of the Code of 

Ethics and Conduct is to establish the framework for understanding and putting into practice the behaviours and 

expectations that the Company places on to all directors, executives, and employees, whatever the nature of their 

contractual relationship with the Company. Thus, given the impossibility of anticipating all the questions and 

situations that may arise in the performance of professional activity, the Code provides minimum guidel ines for 

conduct that guide our professional and personal behaviour. The Company has undertaken initiatives for training 

on and dissemination of this Code of Ethics and Conduct. 

The controls implemented by the Compa ny to manage and mitigate significant financia! reporting and operating 

risks can be characterised as: 

• Preventive: intended to prevent errors or fraud situations that may give rise toa n error in the financia! 

information of the Company. 

• Detecting: the aim of which is to detect errors or fraud situations that have already occurred and that 

may give rise to an error in the Company's financia! information. 

These controls are integrated into the Company through the establishment of a scheme of roles and 

responsibilities for t he different functions, set out in the procedures approved and disseminated within the 

Company. 

Repsol ln ternational Finance B.V. 8 

.]lt1 
pwc 



PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Accountants N.V.
For identification  
purposes only

The Company has developed a segregation of duties model in the systems for preventing and reducing the risk of 

errors (intentional or otherwise), especially the fraud factor in the financia! reporting process. 

Research and development 

The Company, due to its nature of business primarily being financing, does not engage in research and 

development activities. 

Cllmate Change 

Energy plays a key role in enabling progress and improve the well-being of society. The technology and its 

industrial applicat ion have led us to have access today to secure and affordable energy in much of the world, but 

its production and use generate greenhouse gas emissions that contributes to climate change. Therefore, the 

Energy industry faces an unprecedented challenge, decarbonize the energy cycle while guarantees a reliable and 

affordable energy supply for the consumer. 

Climate change is a collective challenge that requires decisive action by producers and consumers of energy, as 

well as international collaboration, to advance in the energy transition and reduce gas emissions greenhouse 

gases from oi l and gas. 

For Repsol, the energy t ransition is only understood if includes principies of economic viability, efficiency, 

sustainability, and justice, and must be achieved with solutions that provide a positive social and economic impact 

on the workers, local communities, and society in general, always based on respect for the rights human rights 

and with special attention to the most vulnerable. This is stated in the Sustainability Policy of the Company, 

existing since 2015 and updated in 2022. 

Repsol 's goal is to satisfy the demand for energy and products, contributing to sustainable development and 

reaching net emissions neutrality in 2050. This is what includes the Sustainability Policy. The Sustainability Policy 

is specified in a model that establishes six axes of action: di mate change, environment, innovation and technology, 

security, people, and ethics and transparency. 

Repsol recognizes the urgency of this challenge and has made a bold commitment to achieve net-zero em issions 

by 2050, aligning with the Paris Agreement's ambitious goals. Repsol's commitment to sustainability is not merely 

a corporate responsibility initiative; it is an integral part of its long-term st rategy and financia ! planning. Repsol 

believe that by leading the transition to a low-carbon economy can not only contribute to a more sustainable 

future but also create new opportunities for growth and value creation. 

In accordance with its explicit commitment to transparency, Repsol Group prepares its information on climate 

change following the recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-Related Financia! Disclosures (TCFD). 

Detailed information can be found in the Repsol Group Management Report which is available on the website 

www.repsol.com. The entire Repsol Group, including the Company and its employees, are involved in achieving 

the climate change goals defined by Repsol Group. No immediate significant impacts are expected in the 

Company's financia! position, long term impacts are closely monitored . 

The Company is subject to Wave 2 of the Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive (CSDR) and management is 

investigating how to comply with CSRD for the year ending 31 December 2025 . 
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Corporate responsibllity 

Repsol Group in general, is strengthening its business strategy with the search for better energy solutions that 

contribute to sustainable development. This is possible thanks to a forward-looking vision that is based on the 

corporate responsibility as one of its key attributes. 

Throughout 2024, the Company, through its Parent Company, has continued to expand the implementation of its 

corporate responsibility coordination system, through Sustainability Committees, the development of studies for 

identifying expectations and the publication of susta inability plans. 

Mlnlmum taxatlon (OECD Pillar 11) 

In October 2021, 137 countries of the OECD Inclusive Framework reached a politica l agreement to establish 

common rules to ensure minimum taxation of multinational groups. This agreement was finalized in December 

2021 with the publication of model ru les that guarantee an effective global taxation of 15%. 

In December 2022, the 27 Member S tates of the EU approved a Directive, based substantially on the OECD model 

rules, which must be transposed into the national legislation of each Member State before the end of 2024, for 

its entry into force in the fisca l year 2024. 

The Netherlands has al ready approved nationallegislation with the bill for the Minimum Tax Act 2024. Beyond a 

significa nt increase in formal compliance costs, the Company does not expect significant economic impacts from 

the application of this new regulation, as it is already subject to effective tax rates much higher than 15%. The 

Company's profits and average effective tax rateare expected t o be like the commercial result and the domestic 

effective tax rate. 

In addition, the Company does not expect to apply in The Netherlands any lncome lnclusion Rule (IIR) or 

Undertaxed Payments Rule (UTPR). 

Number of employees 

During 2024, the average number of employees was S (2023: 7). 

Board of dlrectors 

The directors of t he Company during the year were as fo llows: 

R. Harinck 

J. Sa lmeron Malina 

S. Mera Uriarte 

Male/female partitionlng of board members 

Although the Company qualifies as a PIE, as it does not have its shares listed, it is not subject to the mandatory 

diversity requirement to have a supervisory board with at least 1/3 female and 1/3 male members. However, inter 

alia, diversity goals have to be set pursuant to articles 2:142b jo. 2:187 of the Dutch Civil Code. Furthermore, new 

Dutch legislation applies as per 1 January 2023 (i.e., the Royal Decree of 22 April 2022 regarding adequate gender 

diversity targets in management report). This legislation creates mandatory reporting obligation as regards 

gender diversity for large legal entities. Pursuant to article 2:397 of the Dutch Civil Code the Company qualifies as 
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such entity and therefore, in principie, has to comply with such mandatory reporting obligations. However, the 

Company is exempted from meeting these obligations since its Parent Company meets the requirements of the 

new Dutch legislation or has in fact, as part of its governance, for itselfimplemented the obligat ions that otherwise 

would ha ve complied with by the Company. Without prejudice to the foregoing, the Company itself, when a board 

vacancy appears, w ill continue to st rive to appoint at least one more female board member if suitable candidates 

can be identified as part of its diversity goals. 

Subsequent events 

On 30 January 2025 the Company announced that it would exercise its right to redeem all currently outstanding 

notes in relation to its bond valued at EUR 725.985.000 and due in 2075. The Notes will be redeemed on 25 March 

2025 at their principal amount, together with any accrued and unpaid interest. This event is considered as a non­

adjusting event sin ce ita rose after the end of the reporting period and do not result in adjustment to the financia! 

statements. 

No other significant events, which could have a material impact, occurred between year-end 2024 and the date 

on which the Directors approved and authorized these financia! statements for issue. 

Future outlook 

The Company intends to continue providing loan capital to related parties, with future profitability primarily 

dependent on the performance of its financing activities. In the current forecast environment, the Company will 

preserve its financia! strength to meet ongoing demand while ensuring stable returns. 

The Company's financialliabilities, primarily consisting of bonds, are fully secured by corresponding loans to the 

shareholder, which underpins its stable financia! position. With this secure structure and in line with its strategic 

plans, the Company expects to maintain stable operations, with a salid outlook and minimal risk of liquidity or 

financia! instability in the foreseeable future. 

For further details regarding the Company's financia! assets and liabilities, please refer to Note 13 of the 

Financia! Statements. 
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Slgnlng 

The Hague, 14 February 2025 
The Board of Directors: 

/ / 

k:/!/~¿ 
R. Harinck 

~Of\1.0. }\.~ --­S. Mera Uriarte 
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Statement of financia! ~osition as at 31 December 2024 
(befare appropriation of result} 

2024 2023 

ASSETS Notes EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 

Non-current assets 

Loans and borrowings 13 5.058.193 5.786.875 
Deferred tax assets 7 81 1.583 
Other non-current assets 31 31 
Total non-cu rrent assets 5.058.305 5.788.489 

Cu rrent assets 

Loans and borrowings 13 1.557.155 1.658.432 
Trade and other receivables 13 1.539 71 
Cash and cash equivalents 9 1.239 637 
Total current assets 1.559.933 1.659 .140 
TOTAL ASSETS 6.618.238 7.447.629 

2024 2023 
EQUITY ANO LIABILITIES Notes EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 

Shareholders' equity 

lssued share capital 10 300.577 300.577 
Share premium 10 146.449 146.449 
Retained earnings 251.552 235 .861 
Unappropriated result 21.034 15 .691 
Total shareholders' equity 719 .612 698.578 

Non-current llabilitles 

Loans and borrowings 11 5.063.907 5.808.548 
Total non-current liabilities 5.063.907 5.808.548 

Current liabilities 

Loans and borrowings 11 828.377 935 .492 
Trade and other paya bies 12 6.342 5.011 
Total current liabilities 834.719 940.503 

Total liabilities 5.898.626 6.749.051 

TOTAL EQUITY ANO LIABILITIES 6.618.238 7.447.629 

The notes on pages 199 to 477 are an integral part of these financia! statements. 
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Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2024 

lnterest income 

lnterest expense 

Foreign currency translation difference 

Net impairment gain/(loss) on fi nancia! assets 

Other financia! income/(expense) 

Operatlng result 

Employee benefit costs 

Other operating expenses 

Operatlng expenses 

Profit before tax 

lncome tax expense 

Proflt for the year 

Other comprehenslve lncome 

Exchange differences translation foreign operations 

Total comprehenslve lncome 

Notes 

S 

S 

S 

8 

6 

7 

2024 

EUR 1.000 

200.435 

(171.017) 

(7) 

752 

(1.195) 

28.968 

(591) 

(376) 

(967) 

28.001 

(6.967) 

21.034 

21.034 

The notes on pages 19 to 477 are an integral part of these financia! statements. 
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2023 

EUR 1.000 

199.129 

(176.332) 

95 

844 

(1.670) 

22.066 

(750) 

(224) 

(974) 

21 .092 

(5 .401) 

1S.691 

1S .691 
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Statement of changes in equitv for the year ended 31 December 2024 

lssued Share Retained Unappropriated Total 

share capital prem ium earnings result equity 

EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 

Balance as at 31 December 2023 300.577 146.449 235 .861 15.691 698.578 

Resu lt fo r the year 21.034 21.034 

Exchange differences translation foreign operations 

Total comprehensive in come for the year - - - 21.034 21.034 

Al location of prio r year res u lt 15.691 (15.691) 

Balance as at 31 December 2024 300 .577 146.449 251.552 21.034 719.612 

The notes on pages 19 to 47 are an integral part of t hese financia ! statements. 

1p 
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Statement of changes in equitv for the year ended 31 December 2023 

Jssued Sh are Retained Unappropriated Total 

share c.apital p remium eamings result equity 

EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1 .000 

Balance as at 31 December 2022 300577 146.449 76.806 159.054 682.886 

Result for the year - - - 15.691 15.691 

Exchange difieren ces translation foreign operatior 

Total comprehensive income for the vear - - - 15.691 15.691 

AJiocation of prior year result - - 159.0 54 (159.054 ) 

Balance as at 31 December 2023 300577 146.449 235.861 15.691 698578 

The notes on pages 19 to 47 are an integral part of these financia! statements. 

1p 
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Statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2024 

Result befare tax 

Adjustments for: 

Net f inance income 

Others 

Changes in working capital 

lncome tax received (paid) 

l. Cash flows from operating activities 

lnvestments in loans and receivables 

Proceeds from loans and receivllbles settlement 

lnterest on loans and receivllbles received 

lnvestment in other non·current 11ssets 

11. Cash flows from in investin& activities 

Proceeds from loans and borrowin¡s 

Repayments of loans and borrowin¡s 

lnterest on lo11ns and borrowin¡s Pllid 

111. Cash flows used in financin¡ activities 

Net increase 1 (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash 11nd cash equivalents at the be¡¡innin¡ of the year 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the yea r 

Net increase 1 (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 

10 

2024 

EUR 1.000 

28.004 

(30.170) 

4 

(17) 

(5.587) 

(7 .766) 

(756.975) 

1.613.395 

175.526 

(S) 

1.031.941 

(3) 

(857 .923) 

(165.647) 

(1.023.573) 

602 

637 

1.239 

602 

Please refer to Note 19 for the non-cash transactions occurred during the year. 

The notes on pages 19 to 47 are an integral part of these financia! statements. 
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2023 

EUR 1.000 

21.092 

(23.641) 

3 

(203) 

(922) 

(3.671) 

(8.200) 

576.013 

190.478 

(34) 

758.257 

297 

(573.934) 

(181.349) 

(754.986) 

(400) 

1.037 

637 

(400) 
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Notes to the financia! statements 

1. Reportlng entlty 

Repsol ln ternational Finance B.V. (hereafter the 'Company'). is a company domiciled in the Netherlands. The 

address of the Company's registered office is Koninginnegracht 19, 2514 AB, The Hague, the Netherlands. The 

Company's Chamber of Commerce registration number is 24251372. 

The Company is a wholly owned subsid iary of Repsol S.A., located in Madrid, Spain. The Company belongs to the 

Repsol Group, a Spanish energy group whose vision is to be a global energy company and one of the largest 

industrial groups in Spain. The Company is consolidated in the financia! statements of Repsol S.A. available on the 

website www.repsol.com. 

The principal activity of the Company is financing of affiliated companies. 

The Company is primarily involved in: 

• issuing subordinated bonds, bonds under a Euro Medium Term Note Programme in the Luxembourg Stock 

Exchange and advancing the net proceeds to various members of the Repsol Group. 

• lending funds to and borrowing funds from affi liated companies. 

Related to its activities as issuer of bonds that are listed in the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, the Company has 

chosen Luxembou rg as its home Member State. 

These financia! statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 14 February 2025. 

2. Basis of preparation 

(a) Statement of compliance 

The financia! statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 have been prepared in accordance with IFRS 

Accounting Standards as adopted by the European Union and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code. 

(b) Functlonal and presentation currency 

These financia! statements are presented in EUR, which is the Company's functional currency. All amounts have 

been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise indicated. 

The Company determined the EUR as its functionai currency based on management analysis of all relevant 

indicators. 

(e) Changes In accountlng Standards 

The changes in accounting standards that have been applied by the Company as at 1 January 2024 have not had 

a significant impact on disclosures in the financia! statements. The standards applicable from 1 January 2024 are: 

Repsollnternational Finance B.V. 
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• Amendments to IFRS 16 Leases. The amendments provide clarity on how to account for lease concessions 

that were granted dueto the COVID-19 pandemic, simplifying the accou nting treatment for such lease 

modifications. They permit lessees to elect not to assess whether a lease modification is a result of a 

COVID-19-related concession. 

• Amendments to lAS 1 Presentation of Financia! Statements. This amendment clarifies the criteria for 

classifying liabilities as current or non-current. lt emphasizes that the classification should be based on 

the right to defer settlement of the liability at the reporting date, not based on management's intentions 

or expectations. 

• Amendments tolAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and IFRS 7 Financial lnstruments: Disclosures- Supplier 

Finance Arrangements. These amendments require additional disclosures related to supplier finance 

arrangements, helping users of financia! statements to better understand the effects of these 

arrangements on cash flows, liquidity, and the f inancia! position of an entity. 

• IFRS 51** General Requirements for Disclosure of Sustainability-related Financia! lnformation. IFRS 51 

sets out the global baseline for sustainability-related disclosures, addressing t he need for consistent, 

comparable, and reliable reporting of sustainability risks, opportunities, and impacts to support financia! 

decision-making. 

• IFRS 52** Cl imate-related Disclosures. IFRS 52 focuses on climate-related disclosures, provid ing guidance 

on how entities should disclose climate-related financia! risks and opportunities. lt aims to enhance 

transparency regarding the financia! impacts of climate-related issues and align disclosures with the 

recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-related Financia! Disclosures (TCFD). 

Given the nature and scope that the application of the new standards or its prospective application, there was no 

material impact on the financia! statements for the year. 

(d) Basis of measurement 

The M anagement board considers it appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing 

these financia ! statements based on a forecast analysis which supports the going concern assumption. 

Each bond on the Financia! Liabil ities is backed by a Financia! Assets in the form of a loan to the parent company. 

For further details, please refer to Note 13. 

The f inancia! statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. 

(e) Statement of cash flows 

The cash flow statement has been prepared using the indirect method. The cash items disclosed in the cash flow 

statement comprise cash at banks and in hand except for deposits with a maturity longer than three months. Cash 

flows denominated in foreign currencies have been translated at the exchange rates at the dates of the 

transactions.lnterest on loans and borrowings received and dividends received are included in cash from investing 

activities. lnterest on loans and bor rowings paid and dividends paid are recognised as cash used in financing 

activities. Transactions not resulting in inflow or outflow of cash, such as entering into a direction to pay 
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agreement as a method of loan settlement, are not recognised in the cash flow statement. The transactions within 

this type of payments that are not reflected in bank accounts are presented as non-cash t ransactions. 

(f) Use of estlmates and judgments 

In preparing these financia! statements, management has made judgments, estimates and assumpt ions that 

affect the application of account ing policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. 

Actual results m ay differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 

recognized prospectively. 

Recoverability of Joans granted to group companies, multl-group campantes, and affiliates 

Please refer to Note 8 for further details regarding the recoverabil ity of loans granted to group companies. 

Assumptlons and estimation uncertainties 

lnformation about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a material 

adjustment at year end, is the measurement of fa ir value of the financia! instruments. 

Measurement of fa ir values 

A number of the Company's accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair va lues, 

specifically for financia! assets and liabilities. 

The Company has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair va lues. 

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company uses market observable data as far as 

possible. Fair values are categorized into different levels in a fa ir value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the 

va luation techniques as follows. 

• Level l: Valuation based on a quoted price in an active market for identical assets or liabilities. 

• Level 2: Valuation is based on a quoted price in an active market for similar financia! assets or liabilities that 

rely on observable market inputs. 

• Level 3: Valuation based on inputs for t he asset or liability that are not directly observable in the market. 

The most significant variables for valuing financia! instruments vary depending on the type of instrument, but 

fundamentally include: exchange rates (spot and forward), interest rate curves, counterparty risk curves, pr ices of 

equity securities, and the volatilities of al l the aforementioned factors. In all cases, market data is obtained from 

reputed information agencies or correspond to quotes issued by official bodies. 

lf the inputs used to measure the fa ir value of an asset ora liability might be categorized in different levels of the 

fair va lue hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorized in its entirety in the same level of the fa ir 

value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to t he entire measurement. 

3. Material accountlng pollcy lnformatlon 

(a) Financlallnstruments 

Repsollnternational Finance B.V. 

.]lt1 
21 

pwc 



PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Accountants N.V.
For identification  
purposes only

REPJOL 
The Company classifies its non-derivative financia! assets in the following measurement categories: 

• those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through OCI or through profit and loss) 

• those to be measured at amortized cost 

The classification depends on the entity's business model for managing the financia! assets and the contractual terms 

of the cash flows. 

The Company classifies non-derivative financialliabilities into the other financialliabilities category. 

(i) Non-derivative financia/ assets and financialliabilities- recognition and derecognition 

The Company initially recognises loans and receivables and debt securities issued on the trade date. Al l other 

financia! assets and financialliabilities are also initially recognized on the trade date. 

The Company derecognizes a financia! asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, 

or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all the risks 

and rewards of ownership of the financia! asset are t ransferred, or it neither transfers nor reta ins substantially al l 

of the risks and rewards of ownership and does not reta in control over the transferred asset. Any interest in such 

derecognized financia! assets that is created or retained by the Company is recognized as a separate asset or 

liability. 

The Company derecognizes a financia! liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cance lled or 

expired. 

Financia! assets and f inancia! liabilities are offset, and the net amount presented in the statement of financia! 

position when, and only when, the Company has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to sett le 

them on a net basis orto realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

(ii) Non-derivative financia/ assets - measurement 

Financia/ assets at amortized cost 

The Company classifies its financia! assets as at amortized cost only if both of the following criteria are met: 

a. the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and 

b. the contractua l terms give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principa l and interest. 

These are financia! assets with fixed or determinable payments that the Company does not intend to sell 

immediately or in the near term. They arise when the Company del ivers goods or provides services or financing 

directly toa related or third party. 

These assets are initially recognized at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to 

initial recognition, they are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 

{iii) Non-derivative financia/ liabilities- measurement 

Non-derivative financia ! liabilities are initially recognized at fair va lue less any directly attributable transaction 

costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective 

interest method. 
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(b) lmpairment 

Financia/ instruments 

The Company assesses the expected credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at amortized cost 

and fair va lue through operating comprehensive income. Expected credit losses are updated at each reporting 

date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition and, consequently, more timely information is 

provided about expected credit losses. Under this model: 

Stage 1: At the time of initial recognition, expected loss is calculated taking into account the probability of default 

in the first 12 months (for trade receivables, the calculation is spread over the life of the instrument). 

Stage 2: When there is a significant increase in risk, expected loss is calculated for the entire life of the instrument. 

Stage 3: For instruments that are already impaired, expected loss is calculated for the en tire life of the instrument 

with effective interest on amortized cost net of t he amount of the impairment. 

The expected credit loss is impacted by the exposure to default, the probability of defau lt and the loss given 

default. The exposure to default represents the gross amounts of the financia! assets. The probability of default 

is determined based on available statistics regarding the default rates of enterprises with a similar credit rating, 

in the same region and for the applicable t ime horizon, resulting in a general default rate of 0,14% (2023: 0,14%). 

There have not been any significant changes in the assumptions used and methodology appl ied between 2023 

and 2024 in determining the expected cred it loss. 

(e) Cash and cash equlvalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise balances held with banks. Cash and cash equiva lents are stated at face value. 

(d) Trade and other payables 

These amounts represent liabil it ies for goods and services provided to the group prior to the end of the financia! 

year which are unpaid. Trade and other payables are presented as current liabilities, unless payment is not due 

within 12 months after the reporting period. They are recognised init ially at their fair value and subsequently 

measured at amortised cost using the effective in terest method. 

(e) Employee beneflts 

Deflned contrlbutlon penslon plans 

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are expensed as the re lated service is provided. Repsol 

lnternational Finance B. V. has recognized defined contribution pension plans for employees. 

The annual cost of these plans is recognized under Employee benefit costs in the statement of comprehensive 

income. 

(f) Flnance lncome and flnance costs 
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Finance income (the revenue of the Company) comprises interest income on funds invested that are recogn ized 

in profit or loss. lnterest income is recognized as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method. 

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings and impairment Josses recognized on f inancia! assets 

(other than trade receivables and derivatives) that are recognized in profi t or loss. 

Changes in the fair value of derivatives are reported on a net basis as either finance income or finance costs 

depending on whether the changes in the fa ir va lue of derivatives representa net gain or net loss position. 

Foreign currency ga ins and losses are reported on a net basis as either finance in come or finance costs depending 

on whether foreign currency movements are in a net gain or net loss position. 

(g) Forelgn currency 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional cur rency of the Company at exchange rates at 

the dates of the transactions. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at 

the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 

that are measured at fair value are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate when the fa ir 

value was determined. Foreign currency differences are generally recognized in profit or loss. Non-monetary 

items that are measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency are not translated. 

(h) lncome taxes 

Corporate income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. lt is recognized in profit or loss. 

(i) Current tax 

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for t he year and any 

adjustment to tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. lt is measured using tax rates enacted or 

substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax also includes any tax arising f rom dividends. 

Cur rent tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met. 

(ii) Dejerred tax 

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities for financia ! reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not 

recognized for: 

• temporary differences on the init ial recognition of assets or liabilit ies in a transaction that is nota business 

combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss; 

• temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements to the extent 

that the Company is able to control the timing of the reversa! of the temporary differences and it is probable 

that they w ill not reverse in the foreseeable futu re; and 

• taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognit ion of goodwill. 

Deferred tax assets are recognized for un u sed tax losses, un u sed tax credits and deduct ible temporary differences 

to the extent that it is probable t hat future taxable profits wi ll be available against which they can be used. 
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Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable 

that the related tax benefit will be realized; such reductions are reversed when the probability of future taxable 

profits im proves. 

Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognized to the extent tha t it has 

become probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they 

reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the 

Company expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met. 

4. New standards and lnterpretatlons not yet adopted 

The standards and amendments to standards that have been issued by the IASB and endorsed by the European 

Un ion and wh ich will be mandatory in future reporting periods are listed below: 

Mandatory application in 2025: 

A. Amendments to lAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates (effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2025). In August 2023, the IASB amended lAS 21 to help entities to determine 

whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency, and which spot exchange rate to use when it is 

not. The Company does not expect this amendment to have a material impact on its operations or financia! 

statements. 

At the date of issuance of these financia! statements, the standards and amendments that have been issued by 

the IASB but not yet effective: 

A. Amendments to IFRS 9 Financia! lnstruments and IFRS 7 Financia! lnstruments: Disclosures (effective for 

annual periods beginni ng on or after 1 January 2026). On 30 May 2024, the IASB issued targeted amendments 

to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 to respond to recent quest ions arising in practice, and to include new requ irements not 

only for financia! institutions but also for corporate ent ities. These amendments: 

• clarify the date of recognition and derecognition of sorne financia! assets and liabi lities, with a new 

exception for sorne financialliabilities settled through an electronic cash transfer system; 

• clarify and add further guidance for assessing whether a financia! asset meets the solely payments 

of principal and interest (SPPI) criterion; 

• add new disclosures for certa in instruments with contractual terms that can change cashflows (such 

as sorne financia! instruments with features linked to the achievement of environment, social and 

governance targets); and 

• update the disclosures for equity instruments designated at fa ir va l u e through other comprehensive 

income (FVOCI). 
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The Company does not expect these amendments to have a material impact on its operations or financia! 

statements. 

B. IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures (effective for annual periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2027). lssued in May 2024, IFRS 19 allows for certain eligible subsidiaries of parent entities 

that report under IFRS Accounting Standards to apply reduced disclosure requirements. The Company does 

not expect this standard to have an impact on its operations or financia! statements. 

C. IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financia! Statements (effective for annual periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2027). IFRS 18 will replace lAS 1 Presentation of financia! statements, introducing new 

requirements that will help to achieve comparability of the financia! performance of similar entities and 

provide more relevant information and transparency to users. Even though IFRS 18 will not impact the 

recognition or measurement of items in the financia! statements, its impacts on presentation and disclosure 

are expected to be pervasive, particularly those related to the statement of financia! performance and 

providing management-defined performance measures within the financia! statements. 

D. Annuallmprovements to IFRS- Volume 11 (2021-2023). This includes severa! amendments to IFRS standards, 

aimed at clarifying and improving the application of existing rules. Key changes address areas such as the 

classification of liabilities, deferred tax on single transactions, and the treatment of subsidiaries as first-time 

IFRS adopters, among others. 

Management is currently assessing the detailed implications of applying the new standards on the group's 

consolidated financia! statements. 

Regarding the amendments and interpretations outlined in this section, the Company is currently assessing the 

impact their application may have on the financia! statements. Given their nature and scope, the Company 

believes that thei r application will not have a material impact on its financia! statement s. 

S. Financia! result 

A breakdown of interest income and interest expense can be presented as follows: 

Loans and receivables to shareholder 

Loans and receivables to related parties 

Total interest income 

Loans and borrowin¡s from and to related parties 

Bonds and other securities 

Total interest expense 

Forelgn currency translatlon 

2024 2023 

EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 

174.831 

25.604 

200.435 

(220) 

{170.797) 

(171.017) 

179.932 

19.197 

199.129 

(236) 

(176.096) 

{176.332) 

The foreign currency translation differences changed from an expense of EUR 95 thousand for the year ended 31 

December 2023, toan income of EUR 7 thousand for the year ended 31 December 2024. The foreign currency 

translation differences are mainly influenced by (i) movements and fluctuations in the exchange rate of the 
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functional currency compared to other currencies and (ii) movements and fluctuations in the net financia! position 

in other currencies. 

6. Employee beneflt costs 

2024 2023 

EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 

Wa¡ es and salaries 522 635 

Social security contributions 69 115 

Total employee benefit costs 591 750 

Average number of employees 5 7 

Repsol lnternational Finance B.V. has defined contribution plans for it s employees, which conform to current 

legislation. The annual cost included in 'Employee benefit costs' in t he statement of comprehensive income in 

relation to the defined contribution plans detailed above amounted to EUR 19 thousand in 2024 (2023: EUR 37 

thousand) . None of the employees work outside the Netherlands. 

7. lncome taxes 

Corporate lncome tax 

The Company is subject to Dutch corporate income tax at the general rate of 25,8% (2023: 25,8%), 19% on the 

first EUR 200 thousand taxable profits (2023: 19% on the first EUR 200 thousand). The structure of Corporate 

lncome Taxes will not change in 2025, remaining at EUR 200 thousand on t he lower bracket with a rate of 19% 

and a general rate of 25,8%. 

Corporate lncome tax recognlzed in statement of comprehenslve lncome 

Current income tax expense 

Deferred lncome tax expense 

In come tax expense 

Reconclllatlon of effective tax rate 

Result before tax 

Tax using the Company's domest ic tax rate 

Other impact 

lncome tax expense 

2024 

EUR 1.000 

6.988 

(21) 

6 .967 

2023 

EUR 1.000 

5.20 2 

199 

5.401 

2024 

" 
25,8 

(0,9) 

24 9 

EUR 1.000 

28.001 

7.224 

(257) 

6.967 
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" EUR 1.000 

25,8 

(0,2) 

25,6 

21.092 

5.442 

(41) 
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No income tax credit related to withholding taxes regarding interest on loans with counterparties from count ries 

w ith whom The Netherlands has a tax treaty has been considered in determin ing the income tax payable to the 

Dutch tax authorities (2023: nil). 

Movement in deferred tax balances 

2024 Net balance as at Defe:rredtu f X and other Net balance as at Deferred OeJerred 

1 January move:me:nts move:me:nts Sl Decembe:r tax assets taxliobilitles 

EUR 1 .000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1 .000 

loaru and borrowln¡s 1.583 (194) (!.SOS) 81 81 

Net deferred tox assets (llobil lt les) 1.583 119 4) (1.308) 81 81 

2023 Net balance as at Oeferred tax FX and other Net balance as at Oeferred Deferred 

1 January movements movements 91 Oecember tax assets tax liebllities 
EUR 1 .000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1 .000 

Loans and borrowin¡s 1.782 1218) 19 1.583 1.583 

Net deferred tax assets (liabilit les) 1.782 (218) 19 1. 5113 1.5113 

Consider ing the defer red tax balances are related to the impairment on financia! assets, which is calculated as the 

12 months expected credit losses, the deemed recovery of the deferred tax asset is with in 12 months. 

Unrecognized deferred tax assets and llabllities 

As at 31 December 2024, the Company does not have unrecognized deferred tax assets or defer red tax liabilities 

(2023 : none). 

Government and legal proceedings with tax impllcations 

In accordance with prevailing tax legislation, tax returns cannot be considered final until they have been inspected 

by the tax authorities or until the inspection period has expired. The Dutch Tax Authorities have imposed final 

corporate income tax assessments for the Company regarding the years up to and including 2022. Whenever 

discrepancies arise between the Company and the tax authorit ies with respect to the tax treatment applicable to 

certa in opera tions, the Company acts with the authorities in a transparent and cooperative manner in order to 

resolve the resu lt ing controversy, using the lega l avenues at its disposition with a view to reaching non-litigious 

solut ions. Neither as at 31 December 2024 nor as at 31 December 2023, the Company has not recognized any 

provisions to cover contingencies associated with lawsuits and other tax matters in the statement of financia! 

position . 

Minimum taxat lon (OECD Pillar 11} 

In October 2021, 137 countries of the OECD Inclusive Framework reached a politica l agreement to establish 

common rules to ensure mín imum taxation of multinational groups. This agreement was f inalized in December 

2021 w it h the publication of model rules that guarantee an effective globa l taxation of 15%. 

In December 2022, the 27 Member States of the EU approved a Direct ive, based substantially on the OECD model 

rules, which must be transposed into the national legislation of each Member State befare the end of 2024, for 

its entry into force in the fisca l year 2024. 
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The Net herlands has already approved national legislation with the bill for the Mínimum Tax Act 2024. Beyond a 

significant increase in forma l compliance costs, the Company does not expect significant economic impacts from 

the application of this new regulation, as it is already subject to effective tax rates much higher than 15%. The 

Company's profits and average effect ive tax rate are expected to be like the commercial result and t he domestic 

effective tax rate. 

In addit ion, the Company does not expect to apply in The Netherla nds any lncome lnclusion Rule (IIR) or 

Undertaxed Payments Rule (UTPR). 

8. Loans and borrowlngs and trade and other recelvables 

Loans to shareholder 

Loans to related parties 

Loss allowance debt investments at amortised cost 

Total loans and borrowlngs 

Other receivables 

Total trade and other recelvables 

Total recelvab les 

Non-current 

Curren t 

Total loans and borrowings 

2024 

EUR 1.000 

5.873.947 

746.771 

(5.370) 

6.615.348 

1.538 

1.539 

6 .616 .887 

2024 

EUR 1.000 

5.058.193 

1.557.155 

6.615.348 

2023 

EUR 1.000 

6.720.008 

731.421 

(6.122) 

7.445.307 

71 

71 

7 .445.378 

2023 

EUR 1.000 

5.786.875 

1.658.432 

7.445.307 

The tot al of accrued interest included in current loans and borrowings amounts to 89.106 EUR thousand (2023: 

EUR 82.630 thousand). The principal of the loans and borrowings amounts (i ncl uding the expected loss required 

by IFRS 9) of EUR 6.526.242 thousand (2023: EUR 7.362.677 thousand). 

On 19 September 2024, Repsol Tesorería y Gestión Financiera and the Company mutually agreed to cancel their 

loan premat urely and the Company entered into a new loan agreement with Repsol Financia! Trading, amount ing 

to 746.771 EUR t housand. 

More information regarding the loans to shareholder and other re lated part ies is included in Note 15. 

Loss allowance debt lnvestments at amortlzed cost 

The Company has one type of financia! assets t hat is subject to the expected credit loss model: 
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• Loans and borrowings at amortized cost 

lf at the reporting date the credit risk on a financia! instrument has not increased significantly since initial 

recognition, the loss allowance for that financia! instrument is measured at an amount equal to 12-month 

expected cred it losses. Applying the expected credit risk model resulted in a decrease to EUR 6.122 thousand on 

31 December 2023 and a decrease to EUR 5.370 thousand in the current reporting period. The net impairment 

gain of EUR 752 thousand (2023: EUR 844 thousand) has been presented as part of the financia! result in the 

statement of comprehensive income. 

The loss allowances for financia! assets are based on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates 

based on past history, existing market conditions and information obtained from international rating agencies. 

The Company has not and has not been asked to grant any payment holidays on their loans issued to group 

companies. 

9. Cash and cash equlvalents 

2024 2023 

EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 

Cash (equivalents) at bank 1.239 637 

All cash and bank balances are available on demand . 

10. Shareholder's equity 

lssued share capital 

The authorized and paid-in share capital of the Company consist of 300.577 shares with a par value of EUR 1.000. 

There are no specific rights, preferences and/or restrictions applicable. 

Share premium 

The share premium reserve concerns the receipts from the issuance of shares as far as this exceeds the nominal 

val u e of the shares and amounts EUR 146.449 thousand (2023: EUR 146.449 thousand) . 

Dividend distribution 

During 2024 no dividend was declared by the Company (2023 : nil). 

Unappropriated result 

• Appropriation of result for the financia! year 2023 

The Annual report 2023 was adopted in the General Meeting held on 14 February 2024. The General Meeting has 

determined the appropriation of result by adding it to retained earnings in accordance with the proposal being 

made to that end. 

• Proposal for appropriation of result for the financia! year 2024 

Repsollnternational Finance B.V. 30 

.]lt1 
pwc 



PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Accountants N.V.
For identification  
purposes only

The General Meeting of Shareholders will be asked to approve the following appropriation of the result for the 

year 2024: an amount of EUR 21.034 thousand to be added to the retained earnings. The result for the year 2024 

is included under the unappropriated result item in the shareholder's equity. 

The Company can only make payments to the shareholder and other parties entitled to the distributable profit in 

so far as 

(1) the Company can continue to pay its outstanding debts after the distribution (the so-called distribution test). 

and 

(2) the shareholder's equity exceeds the legal reserves and statutory reserves under the articles of association to 

be maintained (the so-called balance sheet test). lf not, management of the Company shall not approve the 

distr ibution. 

Capital management 

The Company's primary objective is to maintain an optimal capital structure that supports its ability to contin ue 

as a going concern and safeguard the return for its shareholder, as well as the profits for the holders of equity 

instruments. 

The Company's capital structure includes share capital, reserves and retained earnings. Specifically, the capital 

management policy is designed to ensure that a reasonable level of debt is maintained. 

11. Loans and borrowings 

Non-current llabilities 

2024 

EUR 1.000 

2023 

EUR 1.000 

Bond and other secu rities S .063 .907 5.808.548 

To tal non-current loans and borrowlngs =~5;,;·,;0,;6;;3 ;;;. 9;,;;0;,;,7==,;5;,;·,;8;;0;;8 ;;;.5;,;4;,;;8= 

Current llablllties 

Bond and other securities 

Loans from related parties 

Total current loans and borrowings 

2024 

EUR 1.000 

828.377 

828.377 

2023 

EUR 1.000 

928.589 

6.903 

935.492 

The total of accrued interest included in current bonds and other securities amounts to EUR 78.377 thousand 

(2023: EUR 78.589 thousand). 

The amortized cost of the principal of the bonds and other securities amounts to EUR 5.813.907 thousand (2023 

EUR 6.658.548 thousand). 

Repsollnternational Finance B.V. 

.]lt1 
31 

pwc 



PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Accountants N.V.
For identification  
purposes only

REPJOL 
The total of accrued interest included in current loans from related parties amounts to EUR O thousand {2023: 

EUR 25 thousand). The principal of the loans from related parties amounts of EURO thousand (2023: EUR 6.878 

thousand). 

More information about loans and borrowings is included in Notes 13 and 14. 

12. Trade and other paya bies 

2024 2023 

EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 

Accounts payable to shareholder 52 6 

Accounts payable to related parties (20) 

Tax liabilities 6.262 4.868 

Other paya bies 47 137 

Total trade and other payables 6 .342 5.011 

Tax liabilities 

2024 2023 

EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 

Corporate income tax 6.182 4.771 

Value added tax 66 63 

Wage tax and social securities 14 34 

Other t ax liabilities 

Total tax liabilities 6 .262 4 .868 

Other payables 

2024 2023 

EUR 1 .000 EUR 1.000 

Trade payables to suppliers 36 125 

Other paya bies 11 11 

Total other payables 47 136 

More information about fina ncialliabilities is included in Notes 13 and 14. 

13. Financia! instruments 

The tables below include the carrying amounts and fair values of financia ! assets, financia! liabilities, including 

information on their levels in the fair value hierarchy. They do not include fair va lue information for financia! 

assets and financialliabilities not measured at fa ir value if t he carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of 

fa ir value. 

Current and non-current flnanclal assets 
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The breakdown of t he different concepts that are included on the balance sheet is as fol lows: 

2024 2023 

EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 

Non·current non·derivative f inancia! asset 5.058.193 5.785.87 5 

Current non·derivlltive finllncilll assets 1.558.394 1.!~59.059 

Total financia! assets 6.616.587 7.445.944 

The details, by type of assets, of the Company's financia! assets at their principal amount as at 31 December 
2024 and 2023, are as follows: 

As at 31 December 2024 Fair value Fair value 

through through Amortized 

profit and loss OCI cost Total 

EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 

Other finllnCilll l!ssets 5.058.193 5.058.193 

Non-current fimmci11l 11ssets 5.058.193 5.058.193 

C11sh and c11sh equivalents 1.239 1.239 

Other finllnCill l l!Ssets 1.557.155 1.557.155 

Current fin11nci11l 11ssets 1.558.394 1.558.394 

Tot11l flnanci11l assets 6 .616.587 6.616.587 

As at 31 December 2023 Fa ir value Fair value 

through through Amortized 

proflt and loss OCI cost Total 

EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 

Other finl!ncilll assets 5.786.875 5.786.875 

Non-current financia! assets 5.786.875 5.786.875 

Cash and cash equivalents 537 637 

other finllncial assets 1.658.432 1.658.432 

Current fin11ncial assets 1.659.069 1.659.069 

Total financi11l assets 7.445.944 7.445.944 

The fair value of the financia! assets measured at amortized cost is detailed in the following table: 
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Carrying amount Fair va lue 

2024 2023 2024 2023 

EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 

Non-current 5.058.193 5.785.875 4.251.298 5.517.328 

Current 1.557.155 1.558.432 1.553.178 1.535.247 

Total loans and receivables 6 .615.348 7 .445.307 5 .814.476 7.253.575 

The techniques used to value the financia! assets, all classified as leve! 2 for fair value hierarchy purposes, are 

based, in keeping w ith prevailing accounting rules, on an income approach and consist of discounting known or 

estimated future cash flows (estimated using implied forward curves provided by the market in the case of 

derivatives) to present value using discount curves built from benchmark market interest rates adjusted for credit 

risk as a function of the terms of the various instruments. 

The return accrued on the f inancia! assets disclosed in the table above was equivalent toan average interest rate 

of 2,79% in 2024 and 2,65% in 2023, respectively. 

The maturity of non-current financia! assets measured at amortized cost is as follows: 

2024 2023 

EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 

Year 2 495.795 747.553 

Year3 1.490.805 495.795 

Year 4 1.490.805 

Year 5 

Subsequent years 3.070.593 3.051.523 

Balance as at 31 December 5.058.193 5.786.876 

Each bond on the Financia! Liabilities is backed by a Financia! Asset in t he form of a loan to the parent company. 

The Company intends to redeem the subordinated bonds at the first call date, in accordance with the terms and 
conditions specified in the relevant agreement. Consequently, the loans to Repsol S.A. which back undated bonds 
have a maturity matching the first call date. 

Current and non-current flnanclalllabllltles 

This note discloses the categories of financialliabil ities acquired (excluding interest) included in the balance sheet 

line-items outlined below: 
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Non·current non·derivative financia l liabi lities 

Current non·derivative f inancialliabilities 

Total financia! liabilities 

2024 

EUR 1.000 

5.063.907 

750.000 

5 .813.907 

2023 

EUR 1 .000 

5.808.548 

856.878 

6.665.426 

The maturity of non·current financial liabilities measured at amortized cost is as follows: 

2024 2023 

EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 

Year 2 503.232 745.649 

Year 3 1.501.793 496.768 

Year4 1.341 1.498.207 

Year 5 709 (1.341) 

Subsequent years 1.576.499 848.777 

Undated 1.480.333 2.220.488 

Balance as at 31 December 5.063.907 5 .808.548 

Following is a breakdown of the financialliabilities acquired at their principal amount, most of which are secured 

with a guarantee from Repsol, S.A., as at 31 December 2024 and 2023: 

As at 31 December 2024 financia! llabilities financi a! llabllltles 

held for tradlnl at amortlzed cost Total Falr value 

EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 

Bonds ~nd other securiti es 5.063.907 5.063.907 5.034.176 

Other li~bili ties 

Non-current financia! liabillties 5.063.907 5.063.907 5 .034.176 

Bonds and other securit ies 750 .000 750.000 745.418 

Derivatives 

other liabi lities 

Curr.,nt flnancial liabilities 750.000 750.000 745.418 

Total flnancialliabilitii!S 5.813.907 5.813.907 5.779.594 
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The outstanding bonds as at 31 December 2024 are the fol\owing: 

Nominal 
outstandlns Average 

ISIN number Bond Date lssue currency (In Mllllons) rate" Marurlty Llsted 
XS2156581394 EUROBOND 2025 111 15/04/2020 EUR 750 2,000% 15/12/2025 LuxSE 
XSI148073205 EURO BOND 2026 111 10/12/1014 EUR 500 2,250% 10/12/2026 LuxSE 
XS2035620710 EUROBOND 2027 (1l Ol/08/2019 EUR 750 0,250% 02/08/2027 LuxSE 
XS2156583259 EUROBONO 2030 (1l 15/04/2020 EUR 750 2,625% 15/04/2030 LuxSE 
XS1352121724 EURO BOND 2031 (ti 27/01/2016 EUR 100 5,375% 27/01/2031 LuxSE 
XS1207058733 HYBRID 2015 lOYR NC 1'1 25/03/2015 EUR 726 4,500% 25/03/2075 LuxSE 
XS2320533131 HYBRID 2021 6YR Ul 22/03/2021 EUR 750 21500% Undated LuxSE 
XS2185997884 HYBRID 2020 6YR NC 111 11/06/2020 EUR 750 3,750% Undated LuxSE 
XS2186001314 HYBRIO 2020 8.5YR NC (ti 11/06/2020 EUR 750 4,247% Undated LuxSE 

5.826 
Note: 

111 lssues made unfer the EMTN Program, se<: u red by Repsol, S.A. and for a maximum of €13.000 mi ilion. 
(1)Subordinated bond (does not correspond to any open-ended or shelf program) with a coupon that will be revsied on March 25,2025 and March lS, 2045. 

The details of these subordinated bond issues are as fo\lows: 

• In 2020 the Company issued two series of subordinated bonds guaranteed by Repso\ S.A for a total 

amount of 1.5 bil\ion euros of a perpetua\ nature or without a maturity date, redeemable at the issuer's 

request start ing from the sixth and eighth year respectively, or in certain circumstances set forth in the 

terms and conditions. 

• In 2021 the Company issued a series of subordinated bonds guaranteed by Repsol S.A. for a total amount 

of 750 million euros, with a perpetua\ nature or without a maturity date, redeemab \e at the issuer's 

request starting from the sixth year, or in certain circumstances set forth in the terms and conditions. 

The bonds have been placed among qua\i fied investors and are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. 

Regarding the bonds with undated maturity, the issuer retains the option to defer coupon payments in 
accordance with the terms and conditions of the issuance. Such deferrals wi\1 not be considered an event of 

defau\t. Deferred coupon payments wi \1 accrue and must be settled under certain conditions, as specified in the 
bond's terms and conditions. 

As at 31 Oecember 2023 

Bonds and other securities 

Other !iabilities 

Non-current financia! liabllities 

Bonds and other securities 

Other liabilities 

Current financia! liabllities 

Total financialliabilities 

Financia! llabllities Financia! liabilities 

held for tradin¡ at amortlzed cost 

EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 

5.808.548 

5.808.548 

850.000 

6.878 

856.878 

6.665.426 

Repsol lnternational Finance B.V. 

Total falr value 

EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 

5 .808.548 5.651.006 

5 .808.548 5 .651.006 

850.000 827.705 

6.878 6.878 

856.878 834.583 

6.665.426 6.485.589 
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The outstanding bonds as at 31 December 2023 were the following: 

Nominal 
outstandlng Average 

ISIN number Bond Date lssue Currency (In Mllllons) rate" Marurlty Usted 

XS2241090088 EURO BOND 2024 1' 1 05/10/2020 EUR 850 0,125% 05/10/2024 luxSE 

XS2156581394 EURO BOND 2025 111 15/04/2020 EUR 750 2,000% 15/12/2025 luxSE 

XS1148073205 EURO BOND 2026111 10/12/2014 EUR 500 2,250% 10/12/2026 luxSE 

XS2035620710 EURO BOND 2027111 02/08/2019 EUR 750 0,250% 02/08/2027 l uxSE 

X$2156583259 EURO BOND 2030 IJ) 15/04/2020 EUR 750 2,625% 15/04/2030 l uxSE 

X$1352121724 EURO BOND 2031 1' 1 27/01/2016 EUR 100 5,375% 27/01/2031 l uxSE 

XS1207058733 HYORID 2015 10YR NC 1' 1 25/03/2015 EUR 726 4,500% 25/03/2075 luxSE 

XS2320S33131 HYORID 2021 6YR lll 22/03/2021 EUR 750 2,500% Undated LuxSE 

X$2185997884 HYBRID 2020 6YR NC 111 11/06/2020 EUR 750 3,750% Undated luxSE 

X$2186001314 HYBRID 2020 8.5YR NC 111 11/06/2020 EUR 750 4,247% Undated luxSE 

6.676 
Note: 

(1) lssues made unfer the EMTN Program, secured by Repsol, S.A. and for a maximum of (13.000 million. 

(2)5ubordinated bond (does not correspond to any open·ended or shelf program) with a coupon that will be revsied on March 25, 2025 and March 25, 2045. 

The main inputs used to va lue financia! liabilities vary by instrument but are mainly interest rate curves, 

counterparty risk curves, equity prices and volatility metrics for all of the listed inputs. In all instan ces the market 

data are obtained from reputed information providers or correspond to the prices published by official bodies. 

In relation with liquidity risk, disclosure of maturities relevant to Repsol funding as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 

is provided in Note 14. 

The breakdown of average loan balances outstanding and cost by instrument is as follows: 

2024 2023 

Averaee volume Avensee cost Averaee volume Average cost 

EUR milllon " EUR mi Ilion " 
Bonds 6.478 2,6 6.832 2,6 

Loans from related parties S 4,3 7 3, 2 

Total 6.483 2,6 6 .839 2,6 

Repsollnternational Finance B.V. 

.]lt1 
37 

pwc 



PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Accountants N.V.
For identification  
purposes only

REPJOL 

Bonds and other securltles 

The chart below discloses issues, buybacks and repayments of debt securities (recognized under current and non­

current Bonds) in 2024 and 2023 (excluding accrued interest amounts): 

Bonds 

Total 

Bonds 

Total 

BGiance as at 

!11 Oec 2023 

EUR 1.000 

6.658.548 

6.658.548 

Balance as at 

S1 Dec 2022 

EUR 1.000 

7.226.750 

7.226.750 

Key issues and repayments carried out in 2024 

(+) 

fssuances 

EUR 1.000 

(+) 

lnuances 

EUR 1.000 

(-) 

Repurchases or 

relmbursement 

EUR 1.000 

(3) 

(!1) 

(· ) 

Repurchase.s or 

re.lmburseme.nt 

EUR 1.000 

(573.337) 

(573.357) 

{+/· ) 

Exchan¡e n1te and Balance as at 

other adjustments S1 Oec 2024 

EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 

(844.638) 5.813.907 

(844.638) 5.819.907 

(+/·) 

Exchan¡e n1te and Balance as at 

other adjustments St Oec 202S 

EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 

5.135 6.656.548 

5.155 6.658.548 

The Company has a medium term note program (the EUR 13.000.000.000 Guoranteed Euro Medium Term Note 

(EMTN) Progromme) which is registered w ith the Luxembourg Commision de Surveillance du Secteur Finoncier. 

Under the scope of this program: 

The Company applies for the admission to trading on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange any bonds to be issued 

under t he Programme, as the Company filed with the competent author ities the relevant Base Prospectus (and 

its Supplements, when appropriate) in accordance w ith the laws and regulations governing public offers of 

securities and their admission to trad ing in regulated markets. 

No new bonds were issued by the Company during 2024 under the EMTN Programme. 

In 2024 the below listed bond issued under the EMTN Programme, matured: 

• A 4-year bond issued by the Company on OS October 2020, in the amount of EUR 850 mili ion at 100,815% 

of the aggregate nominal amount with a fixed rate of 0,125%, matured and was repaid on OS October 

2024. 

Key issues and repayments carrled out In 2023 

The Company has a medium term note program (the EUR 13.000.000.000 Guaranteed Euro Medium Term Note 

(EMTN) Programme). lt is registered with the Luxembourg Commission de Survei llance du Secteur Financier and 

was updated on 31M ay 2023, with an increase from EUR 10.000.000.000 to EUR 13.000.000.000. 

Under the scope of this program: 
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The Company applies for the admission to trading on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange any bonds to be issued 

under the Programme, as the Company filed with the competent authorities the relevant Base Prospectus (and 

its Supplements, when appropriate) in accordance with the laws and regulations governing public offers of 

securities and their admission to trading in regulated markets. 

No new bonds were issued by the Company during 2023 under the EMTN Programme. 

In 2023 the below listed bond issued under the EMTN Programme, matured: 

A 2-year bond issued by the Company on 2S May 2021, in the amount of EUR 300 million at 100,81S% of 

the aggregate nominal amount with a floating coupon equivalent to EURIBOR 3 months plus 0,7%, matured and 

was paid on 2S May 2023. 

In 2023 the below listed bonds issued under the EMTN Programme had the following changes: 

On 20 January 2023 the Company, with the idea to optimize the hybrid bond program and to reduce the 

future refinancing risk, announced an invitation to holders of its EUR 1.000.000 10-year non-ca ll securities due in 

207S to tender their securities for purchase for cash up to EUR 32S.OOO thousand for a purchase price of 98.70 

per cent with an expiration date on 26 January 2023. The final acceptance amount was EUR 229.01S thousand 

which was paid on 30 January 2023 together with the accrued interest on such securities accepted for purchase 

in an amount of EUR 38,34 per EUR 1.000 in principal amount. 

In May and June 2023, the Company acquired an additional EUR 4S.OOO thousand of the EUR 1.000.000 

thousand 10-year non-ca ll securities due in 207S, that were cancelled on 26 June 2023. 

On S October 2023 the Company's Senior Bond 0,12S% 2024 was reclassified from non-current financia! 

liabilities to current financialliabiliti es given that its maturity date is S October 2024. 

The Company previously hada EUR 2.000 million Euro Commercial Paper (ECP) Program, which was arranged on 

26 March 2010 and was guaranteed by Repsol, S.A. This program expired in the first quarter of 2023. During 2023, 

the Company did not engage in any ECP transactions, nor did it have any outstanding balances issued under this 

program. 

Guaranteed debt securlty /ssues 

In general, the terms and conditions of the bonds include standard early termination da uses. In the case of the 

bonds issued by t he Company and guaranteed by Repsol, S.A. under the EMTN Programme (face value of EUR 

2.8SO million (EUR 4.000 million in 2023), the terms and conditions of the bonds (except the undated 

subordinated bonds and the subordinated bond maturing in 207S, the "Subordinated Bonds") contain certain 

early termination clauses (including cross-acceleration and cross default, applicable to the issuer and the 

guarantor) and negative pledge covenants in relation to future bonds issues (as long as any of the bonds rema in 

outstanding, the issuer and the guarantor undertakes not to create or have outstanding any mortgage, charge, 

pledge, lien or other secu rity interest upon the whole or any part of its undertaking, assets or revenues or to 

secure any guarantee of or indemnity in respect to any bonds). 
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lf an event of default is triggered, the trustee, at its sol e discretion or at the behest of the holders of at least one­

fifth of the series of the affected bonds or on the basis of an extraordinary bond holder resolution, is entitled to 

declare all the obligations under the bonds due and payable immediately. In addition, the holders of the bonds 

issued since 2014 may elect to have their bonds redeemed u pon a change of control at Repsol if such change of 

control results in Repsol's cred it ratings being downgraded to below investment grade status. 

As regards the undated subordinated bonds and the subordinated bond maturing in 2075 (face value of EUR 2.976 

million at 31 December 2024; EUR 3.250 mi Ilion at 31 December 2023) the issuer can defer the coupon payments 

without triggering an event of default. Coupons so deferred will be cumulative and must be paid in certain cases 

described in the related terms and conditions of the issue. 

Repsol Group was not in breach of any of its financia! obligations or of any other obligation that could trigger the 

early repayment of the bonds issued by the Company. 

Other financialliablllties 

The chart below discloses issuances, repurchases and reimbursements of other financia! liabilities (recognized 

under current and non-current Loans and borrowings) in 2024 and 2023 (principal amounts only): 

(+) {-) (+/- ) 

Balance as at lssuances Repurchases or Exchanee: r.ate: zmd Balance as at 

51 Dec 2025 reimburseme:nt othor adjustments 51 Dec 2024 

EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 

Loans from rtlat•d parti•s 6.878 800 (7.923] 245 

Total 6.878 800 (7.923) 245 

(+) (-) (+/-) 

Balance as at lssuances Repurchases or Exchan&e rate and Balance as at 

91 Dec 2022 re1mbursement other adjustments S1 Dec 2023 

EUR 1 .000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 

loans from relate:d parties 6.955 soo (600] 223 6.878 

Total 6.955 300 (600) 225 6.878 

As of 31 December 2024, repurchases amounted to EUR 7.923 thousand, which included the repayments during 

the year and the loan payable settlement with Terminales Canarios, S. L. 
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Netdebt 

The posit ive net debt of the Company can be specified as follows: 

2024 2023 

EUR 1 .000 EUR 1 .000 

Cash and cash equivalents 1.239 637 

lnvestments- receivable within ene year 1.557.155 1.658.432 

Borrowin¡s- repayable within ene year (828.377) (935.492) 

Current net debt 730.017 723.577 

lnvestments- receivable after one year 5.058.193 5.786.875 

Berrowings- repayable after ene year (5 .063.907) (5.808.548) 

Non-current net debt (5.714) (21.673~ 

Total net debt 724.303 701.904 

A breakdown of the net debt by interest rate profile can be shown as fo llows: 

2024 2023 

EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 

Cash and cash equivalents 1.239 637 

Net debt- fixed interest rates (1 6.946) (23.251) 

Net debt- variable interest rates 740.010 724.518 

Tot al net debt 724.303 701.904 

Derivat ive transactlons 

Neither as at 31 December 2024 nor 31 December 2023, the Company does not have derivate fina ncia! 

inst ruments. 

Guarantees 

Neither as at 31 December 2024 nor 31 December 2023, the Company does not have extended guarantees to 

third parties or Repsol Group companies whose assets, liabi lities and earnings are not presented in the f inancia! 

statements. 

14. Flnanclal rlsk management 

The Company identifies, evaluates and mitigates financia! risks in close cooperation with its Parent Company's 

Financia! Risk Department. This department, wit h the aim to promete best practices, monitors and manages the 

financia! risks relating to the operations of the Company through interna! risk reports w hich analyses exposures 

by degree and magnitude of risks. 

The Company has procedures and policies in place to control risks related to financia! instruments. These policies 

and procedures include a clear segregation of duties between operating, settlement, accounting and controlling 
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of all financia! instruments used. The management of each Group entity is involved in the risk management 

process. 

The main financia ! risks are market risk, credit risk and Jiquidity risk. 

In relation to the process of transition to new benchmark interest rates in differentjurisdictions worldwide (IBOR 

reform). the Company has reviewed its contracts according to the calendar of implementation of the IBOR reform, 

with the objective to identify those with interest rate clauses that impacted, as well as on the substitute interest 

rate clauses ("fall back" clauses) included in them. The reform has not meant a change in the interest rate financia! 

risk management policy. 

Marketrisk 

The Company's activities expose it primarily to the market risks of changes in currency exchange rates, interest 

rates and credit ratings. Market risk (the risk that changes in market prices, such as currency exchange rates and 

interest rates) will affect the Company's income or the va lue of its holdings of financia! instruments. 

lnterest rate risk 

The market value of the Company's net financing and net interest expenses could be affected as a consequence 

of interest rate fluctuations that could affect the interest income and interest costs of financia! assets and 

liabilities tied to floating interest rates, as well as the fa ir val u e of financia! assets and financia! liabilities tied to a 

fixed interest rate. 

When considered appropriate, the Company may decide to mitigate the interest rate risk by means of derivative 

financia! instruments for which there is a liquid market, these hedging mechanisms are limited and, therefore, 

cou ld be insufficient. Consequently, changes in interest rates could have an adverse effect on the Company's 

business, results and financia! position. 

Exposure to interest rote risk 

The interest rate profile of the Company's interest-bearing financia! instruments as reported to management of 

the Company is as follows: 

EUR (million) 

Fixed-rate financia! instruments 

Variable rate financia! instruments 

2024 

(17) 

740 

2023 

(23) 

725 

N& interest bearin¡ fínancial instruments ==....;7.;;2.;;3;....= =.;.7.;;0.;;2= 

Sensitivity analysis 

A reasonably possible change of 50 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased 

(decreased) equity and profit or Joss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, 

in particular foreign currency exchange rates, remain constant. 
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EUR (mil !ion) 

lncrease of 50 bps 

Decrease of 50 bps 

There is no significant impact on equity. 

Credit rating risk 

Result for the year 

2024 2023 

4 

(4) 

4 

(4) 

~_) 

REPJOL 

Credit ratings affect the pricing and other conditions under which the Company is able to obtain financing. Any 

downgrade in the credit rating could restrict or limit the Company's access to the financia! markets, increase its 

new borrowing costs and have a negative effect on its liquidity. 

Creditrlsk 

Credit risk is the risk of financia! loss to the Company if a counterparty to a financia! instrument fails to meet its 

contractual obligations. Credit risk arises principally from the Company's loans receivable from related parties and 

unsettled derivatives whose fa ir value is positive. The Company attempts to minimize the counterparty credit risk 

associated with the financia! instruments used by selecting counterparties that it assumes to be creditworthy, 

given their credit ratings. 

The carrying amount of financia! assets represents the maximum credit exposure. 

Loans receivab/e from related porties 

The credit risk of each loan is influenced by the individual characteristics of each counterparty. The Company 

applies IFRS 9 therefore if, at the reporting date, the credit risk on a financia! instrument has not increased 

significantly since initial recognition, the loss allowance for that financia! instrument is measured at an amount 

equal to 12-month expected cred it losses. To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit risk the 

Company compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at the reporting date with the risk of default as 

at the date of initial recognition. lt considers available reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking informat ion. 

However, the Company is not exposed to a significant credit risk due to the credit rating and liquidity of the 

debtors. No loan was overdue as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023. 

Derivative financia/ instruments 

The derivative financia! instruments are entered at investment grade with bank and financia! institution 

counterparties that meet the sta ndards of solvency in accordance with the market conventions regulat ing these 

kinds of financia! transactions. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

The Company held cash and cash equivalents of EUR 1.239 thousand as at 31 December 2024 (2023: EUR 637 

thousand). The cash and cash equivalents are held with bank and financia! institution cou nterparties. 
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L/qu/dlty rlsk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its 

financia! liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financia! asset. The Company's approach to 

managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liqu idity to meet its liabilities when 

they are due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage 

to the Company's reputation. In this regard, the Company has a positive net debt balance of EUR 724 million as 

at 31 December 2024 (2023: EUR 702 million) andan excess of current assets over current liabilities of EUR 725 

mi ilion as at 31 December 2024 (2023: EUR 719 mili ion) . 

The Company's Treasury Department controls and monitors its financia! needs ranging from the production of 

daily cash flow forecasts to the financia ! planning involved in the annual budgets and Repsol Group's strategic 

plan; it maintains diversified and stable sources of financing that fac ilitate efficient access to financia! markets, all 

within the framework of a financing structure that is compatible with Repsol Group's credit rating in the 

investment grade category. As a result, the Company relies on its shareholder to cover any incidental liquidity 

needs through issuance of additionalloans. 

Exposure to liquidity risk 

The following are the remaining contractual maturities of financialliabil ities at the reporting date. The amounts 

are gross and undiscounted, and include estimated interest payments: 

financlal liabllitles 111 at 31 Oecember 1024 

EUR(mill~n) 2025 202e 2027 2028 2029 subsequent TOTAL 

~~l'ld5 951 649 1.623 116 118 3.205 6.5!4 
Olhtr llabillties 

Total 981 649 1 .625 118 118 3.205 6.e9• 

flnancllll llabllltles u at 31 December 202S 

EUR(millicn) 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 subsequent TOTAL 

8-Mds 1.015 M! 649 162! 118 3.205 7.!0S 

Othtrlli!bllities 

Totef 1.022 898 649 1.625 118 5.205 7.515 

15. Related partles 

Parent and ultlmate controlllng party 

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Repsol, S.A, incorporated in Madrid, Spain. Repsol, S.A. is a Spanish 

energy compariy a Spanish energy group whose vision is to be a global energy company and one of the largest 

industrial groups in Spain. 

The Company undertakes transactions with related parties on an arm's length basis. For the purposes of 

presenting this information, the following are considered to be related parties: 

a. Majar shareholders: the Company's significant shareholder that is deemed a re lated party is Repsol, S.A. 

(100% share capital as at 31 December 2024 and 2023) and its group companies. 

b. Executives and directors: includes members of the Board of Directors. 
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c. People, other companies or entities: includes transactions with other people, companies or entities 

(corresponding mainly to transactions undertaken with companies accounted for using the equity method). 

lncome, expenses and other transactions recorded in 2024 with related parties were as follows: 

As at 51 December 2024 

Share:holder Othe:r Executlve and lnvestee 

related partles Director¡ Total 

EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 

lncome and expense 

Flnancial lncome 174.!ll 25.f04 200.435 

Total lncome 174.831 25.604 200.435 

Financia! ex~enses 220 220 

Operatict'lal Result 1€5 457 lOO 
Total experues 155 (247) 500 220 

Shareholder Other Executlve and Jnve..stee 

related partles Dlrectors Total 

EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1 .000 

Other traruBctions 

FIMnce a¡(eements: credits and capital ccntributions (l e:nder) (846.061) 15.349 (830.712) 

Finance aeree:menu: credits and capitl51 contributicns (borrawer) 

Othe:r rec:e lvables 

Other pavacles (46) 20 (26) 

lncome, expenses and other transactions recorded in 2023 with related parties were as follows: 

As al 31 Docember 2023 

Shareholder Other Executlve and lnve.stee 

related porties Directors Total 

EUR 1 .0()0 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 

fncome and expen.se 

Ftnancial income 179.932 19.197 159.129 

Total lncome 179.932 19.197 199.129 

Financia! e:x~tnsts 2!5 2!5 

O~trat lonol RHult 142 (664) 200 (322) 

T ota 1 expenses 142 (428) 200 (86) 

Shareholder Other Executlve and lnvestee 

re.IBte-d part1es Directors Total 

EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1 .000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 

Othtr tranSJctlon.s 

Flnance a¡re:emt rfts: cr!jits and capital contrib-uticns. (lender) (586.550) 27.397 (559.163) 

Financt .Jift!ments: crediU Jnd caplU I contributicns (borrower) 54 64 

Other recelva~!es (267) (287) 

Othtr p>yabl!l (6) 350 544 

On 19 September 2024, Repsol Tesorería y Gestión Financiera and the Company mutually agreed to cancel their 

loan prematurely and the Company entered into a new loan agreement with Repsol Financia! Trading, amounting 

to 746.771 EUR thousand. 

Repsol lnternational Finance B.V. 

.]lt1 
45 

pwc 



PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Accountants N.V.
For identification  
purposes only

REPJOL 
The related party t ransactions performed by the Company form part of the Company's ordinary business activities 

in terms of their purpose and terms and conditions. All transactions are considered to be at arm's length. 

16. Audltor's remuneration 

The fees listed below relate to procedures applied to the Company by PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V., 

the Netherlands, the externa! independent auditor as referred to in Section 1(1) of t he Dutch Accounting Firms 

Oversight Act (Dutch acronym: Wta), as well as by other Dutch and foreign-based PricewaterhouseCoopers 

individual partnerships and legal entities: 

2024 2023 

EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 

Financ:ial statements audit fees 58 57 

Other assurance and non-assuranc:e fees ---------------------
Total auditor's remuneration 58 57 

17. Directors' remuneration 

The emoluments, including pension costs as referred to in Section 2:383(1) of the Dutch Civil Code, charged in 

the financia! year to the Company amounted to EUR 0.2 million (2023: EUR 0.2 million) for managing directors 

and former managing directors. Soleiy the managing directors qualify as key management personnel, and all the ir 

emoluments regard short-term employee benefits. 

There are no loans, advances and guarantees granted by the Company to its directors. 

18. Corporate Governance 

The board took into consideration the enactment of the EC Directive 2006/43/EU implemented by a Royal Decree 

of 26 July 2008 ('the Decree') and the obligations, because of its listed securities, as a public interest organization. 

The corporate governance compliance obligations in respect of article 2, section 2, sub a to f of the Decree has 

been delegated to the Audit Committee of its parent company, Repsoi, S.A. The board also took Regu lation (EU) 

No 537/2014 into consideration. 

19. Non-cash transactlons 

Certai n financia! transactions occur without actual cash flows on the Company's bank accounts. There are four 

relevant categori es of these transactions: 

1. capitalization of accrued interest in an existing loan 

2. netting of existing loans receivable and ioans payable with the same related party 

3. agreements on assignment of loans receivable and loans payable from one related party to another 

4. arrangements on payments to settle transactions without the use of the Company's bank accounts 

These transactions are part of the Company's ordinary activit ies. All relevant transactions are transactions 

between Repsol Group companies. 
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The non-cash investing and financing activities of the Company, which are not reflected in the statement of cash 

flows, can be presented as follows: 

Loans receivable settlements 

Loans payable settlements 

lnterest on loans and borrowings paid 

20. Subsequent events 

2024 2023 

EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 

6.255 

6.034 

220 

(O) 

On 30 January 2025 the Company announced that it would exercise its right to redeem all currently outstanding 

notes in relation to it s bond valued at EUR 725.985.000 and due in 2075. The Notes wi ll be redeemed on 25 March 

2025 at their principal amount, together with any accrued and unpaid interest. This event is considered as a non­

adjusting event sin ce ita rose after the end of the reporting period and do not result in adjustment to the fin ancia! 

statements. 

No other significant events, which could have a material impact, occurred between year-end 2024 and the date 

on which the Directors approved and authorized these financia! statements for issue. 
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Slgnlng of the financia! statements 

-J ~ .s 
J. Salmeron M · ~~ 

S. Mera Uriarte 
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Provisions in the Articles of Association governing the appropriation of profit 

Article 22 of the Company's Articles of Association provides that the prof it is at the disposal of the General 

Meeting of Shareholders, which can allocate said profi t either wholly or partly to the formation of - or addition 

to- one or more general or specia l reserve funds. 

lndependent auditor's report 

Reference is made to the independent auditor's report included hereafter. 
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Independent auditor’s report 
To: the general meeting of Repsol International Finance B.V. 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 2024 

Our opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements of Repsol International Finance B.V. (‘the Company’) give a true and fair view of the 
financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2024, and of its result and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as adopted by the European Union and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil 
Code. 

What we have audited 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements 2024 of Repsol International Finance B.V., Den Haag. 

The financial statements comprise: 

• the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024; 
• the following statements for 2024: the statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows; and 
• the notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policy information and other explanatory information. 

The financial reporting framework applied in the preparation of the financial statements is IFRS Accounting Standards as 
adopted by the European Union and the relevant provisions of Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. 

The basis for our opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on Auditing. We have further described 
our responsibilities under those standards in the section ‘Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ of our 
report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V., Thomas R. Malthusstraat 5, 1066 JR Amsterdam, P.O. Box 90357, 1006 BJ Amsterdam, the Netherlands, T: +31 (0) 88 792 00 20,
www.pwc.nl

‘PwC’ is the brand under which PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V. (Chamber of Commerce 34180285), PricewaterhouseCoopers Belastingadviseurs N.V. (Chamber of Commerce 34180284),
PricewaterhouseCoopers Advisory N.V. (Chamber of Commerce 34180287), PricewaterhouseCoopers Compliance Services B.V. (Chamber of Commerce 51414406), PricewaterhouseCoopers Pensions, Actuarial
& Insurance Services B.V. (Chamber of Commerce 54226368), PricewaterhouseCoopers B.V. (Chamber of Commerce 34180289) and other companies operate and provide services. These services are governed
by General Terms and Conditions (‘algemene voorwaarden’), which include provisions regarding our liability. Purchases by these companies are governed by General Terms and Conditions of Purchase (‘algemene
inkoopvoorwaarden’). At www.pwc.nl more detailed information on these companies is available, including these General Terms and Conditions and the General Terms and Conditions of Purchase, which have also
been filed at the Amsterdam Chamber of Commerce.
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Independence 

We are independent of Repsol International Finance B.V. in accordance with the European Union Regulation on specific 
requirements regarding statutory audit of public-interest entities, the ‘Wet toezicht accountantsorganisaties’ (Wta, Audit firms 
supervision act), the ‘Verordening inzake de onafhankelijkheid van accountants bij assuranceopdrachten’ (ViO, Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants, a regulation with respect to independence) and other relevant independence regulations in the 
Netherlands. Furthermore, we have complied with the ‘Verordening gedrags- en beroepsregels accountants’ (VGBA, Dutch 
Code of Ethics). 

Our audit approach 

We designed our audit procedures with respect to the key audit matters, fraud and going concern, and the matters resulting 
from that, in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole and in forming our opinion thereon. The information 
in support of our opinion, such as our findings and observations related to individual key audit matters, the audit approach fraud 
risk and the audit approach going concern was addressed in this context, and we do not provide separate opinions or 
conclusions on these matters. 

Overview and context 

Repsol International Finance B.V. is a finance company. The Company’s main activity is the financing of group companies of 
Repsol S.A., through bond offerings on the international capital markets which the company executes. The repayment of the 
bonds to the investors is guaranteed by Repsol S.A. as disclosed in note 14 to the financial statements. 

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial 
statements. In particular, we considered where the managing directors made important judgements, for example, in respect of 
significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. 
We also paid attention to climate-related risks. 

In paragraph 2(f) of the financial statements, the Company describes the areas of judgement in applying accounting policies and 
the key sources of estimation uncertainty. Given the significant estimation uncertainty and the related higher inherent risks of 
material misstatement in the measurement of expected credit losses, we considered this matter as a key audit matter as set out 
in the section ‘Key audit matters’ of this report. 

The Company assessed the possible effects of climate change on its financial position, refer to the paragraph ‘Climate change’ 
in the management board report. We discussed the Company’s assessment and governance thereof with the managing 
directors and evaluated the potential impact on the financial position including underlying assumptions and estimates included in 
the financial statements. We note that management concluded that no immediate significant impacts are expected in the 
Company’s financial position as a result of climate change. Based on the above the impact of climate change is not considered 
a key audit matter. 

Other areas of focus, that were not considered as key audit matters, is the income tax position. 

Independent auditor's report, Repsol International Finance B.V., 14 February 2025
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We ensured that the audit team included the appropriate skills and competences which are needed for the audit of a finance 
company. 

Materiality 

The scope of our audit was influenced by the application of materiality, which is further explained in the section ‘Our 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’. 

Based on our professional judgement we determined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality, including the overall 
materiality for the financial statements as a whole as set out in the table below. These, together with qualitative considerations, 
helped us to determine the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures on the individual financial statement line items and 
disclosures and to evaluate the effect of identified misstatements, both individually and in aggregate, on the financial statements 
as a whole and on our opinion. 

Overall materiality €66,000,000 (2023: €74,000,000). 

Basis for determining materiality We used our professional judgement to determine overall materiality. As a basis for our judgement, 1% 
of total assets. 

Rationale for benchmark applied We used total assets as the primary benchmark, a generally accepted auditing practice, based on our 
analysis of the common information needs of the stakeholders. Inherent to the nature of the Company’s 
business, the amounts in the statement of financial position are large in proportion to the income 
statement line items employee benefit costs, other operating expenses and income tax expense. 

Based on qualitative considerations, we performed audit procedures on those income statement line 
items, applying a benchmark of 10% of the total of those expenses. 

We also take misstatements and/or possible misstatements into account that, in our judgement, are material for qualitative 
reasons. 

We agreed with the management board that we would report to them any misstatement identified during our audit above 
€3,300,000 (2023: €3,700,000) as well as misstatements below that amount that, in our view, warranted reporting for qualitative 
reasons. 

Audit approach fraud risks 

We identified and assessed the risks of material misstatements of the financial statements due to fraud. During our audit we 
obtained an understanding of Repsol International Finance B.V. and its environment and the components of the internal control 
system. This included the management board’s risk assessment process, the management board’s process for responding to 
the risks of fraud and monitoring the internal control system. 

We evaluated the design and relevant aspects of the internal control system with respect to the risks of material misstatements 
due to fraud and in particular the fraud risk assessment, as well as the code of conduct, whistleblower procedures, among other 
things. We evaluated the design and the implementation and, where considered appropriate, tested the operating effectiveness 
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of internal controls designed to mitigate fraud risks. 

We asked members of the management board whether they are aware of any actual or suspected fraud. This did not result in 
signals of actual or suspected fraud that may lead to a material misstatement. 

As part of our process of identifying fraud risks, we evaluated fraud risk factors with respect to financial reporting fraud, 
misappropriation of assets and bribery and corruption. We evaluated whether these factors indicate that a risk of material 
misstatement due to fraud is present. 

We identified the following fraud risks and performed the following specific procedures: 

Identified fraud risks Our audit work and observations 

The risk of management override of control 

The management board is in a unique position to 
perpetrate fraud because of management’s ability to 
manipulate accounting records and prepare fraudulent 
financial statements by overriding controls that 
otherwise appear to be operating effectively. 

That is why, in all our audits, we pay attention to the 
risk of management override of controls in: 

• The appropriateness of journal entries and other 
adjustments made in the preparation of the 
financial statements. 

• Estimates. 
• Significant transactions, if any, outside the 

normal course of business for the entity. 

We pay particular attention to tendencies due to 
possible interests of the management board. 

We evaluated the design and implementation of the internal control measures that are intended to 
mitigate the risk of management override of control. Furthermore, we evaluated the design and 
implementation of the controls in the processes for generating and processing journal entries and 
making of estimates. 

We performed our audit procedures primarily substantive based. 

We have selected journal entries based on risk criteria and performed specific audit procedures on 
these, also paying attention to significant transactions outside the normal business operations. 

We also performed specific audit procedures related to important estimates of the management board, 
including the valuation of loans issued to group companies. We specifically paid attention to the 
inherent risk of bias of the managing directors in estimates. 

We did not identify any significant transactions outside the normal course of business. 

Our audit procedures did not lead to specific indications of fraud or suspicions of fraud with respect to 
management override of internal controls. 

We incorporated an element of unpredictability in our audit. During the audit, we remained alert to indications of fraud. 
Furthermore, we considered the outcome of our other audit procedures and evaluated whether any findings were indicative of 
fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations. 

Audit approach going concern 

The managing directors performed their assessment of the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern for at least twelve 
months from the date of preparation of the financial statements and has not identified events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern (hereafter: going-concern risks). 

Our procedures to evaluate the management board’s going-concern assessment included, amongst others: 

• considering whether the management board’s going-concern assessment included all relevant information of which we 
were aware as a result of our audit and inquiring with the management board regarding the management board's most 

Independent auditor's report, Repsol International Finance B.V., 14 February 2025

Page 4 of 10



important assumptions underlying its going concern assessment. 
• evaluating the financial position of the Company, the counterparties of loans to group companies (including the financial 

position of the guarantor to the bonds issued on capital markets) and their ability to repay the notional and interest to the 
Company, by assessing observable data from rating agencies, developments in credit spreads, current financial data (such 
as recent financial information and cash flows) and other publicly available data and by discussing and obtaining 
information from the group auditor. 

• performing inquiries of the management board as to its knowledge of going-concern risks beyond the period of the 
management board’s assessment. 

Our procedures did not result in outcomes contrary to the management board’s assumptions and judgements used in the 
application of the going-concern assumption. 

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the financial 
statements. We have communicated the key audit matters to the management board. The key audit matters are not a 
comprehensive reflection of all matters identified by our audit and that we discussed. In this section, we described the key audit 
matters and included a summary of the audit procedures we performed on those matters. 

There have been no changes in key audit matters compared to the prior year due to the long-term nature of the Company's 
business activities. 

Key audit matter Our audit work and observations 

Measurement of expected credit losses 

Note 9 

We considered the valuation of the loans to group companies, as disclosed in 
note 9 to the financial statements to be a key audit matter. This is due to the 
size of the loan portfolio, for a total amount of €6,615,348,000 at 31 December 
2024, and impairment rules introduced by IFRS 9. 

The impairment rules of IFRS 9 are complex and require judgement to 
calculate the ECL. Amongst other things, this applies to choices and 
judgements made in the impairment methodology, including the determination 
of the probability of default (‘PD’), the loss given default (‘LGD’) and the 
exposure at default (‘EAD’). 

With the application of the impairment rules of IFRS 9, these calculations must 
also take into account forwardlooking information of macro-economic factors 
considering multiple scenarios. 

The managing directors monitor the need for changes in the methods, 
significant assumptions or the data used in making the accounting estimate by 
monitoring key performance indicators that may indicate unexpected or 
inconsistent performance. 

We performed the following procedures to test the managing directors’ 
assessment of the expected credit loss to support the valuation of the loans to 
Repsol S.A. group companies: 

• We assessed on a sample basis the data input used to calculate the 
initial fair value of the loans, including cash flows, based on underlying 
contracts, credit spread and market interest; 

• For the initial fair value calculation, we determined that the valuation 
methodology and model applied by the Company are in accordance with 
the requirements of the impairment rules of IFRS 9; 

• We recalculated the amortised cost value based on the effective interest 
method; 

• With respect to the ECL calculation, we determined that the loans qualify 
as stage 1 loans by assessing the actual performance of the loans (i.e. 
no significant deterioration of credit risk); 

• We evaluated the financial position of the counterparties of loans to 
group companies and guarantor by assessing observable data from 
rating agencies, the latest available financial information and other 
publicly available data in order to assess if there are no adverse 
conditions present suggesting to classify the loans as stage 2 or stage 3 
loans; 

• For the expected credit loss, we assessed that the impairment 
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Key audit matter Our audit work and observations 

Mainly with respect to the PD and LGD used in the determination of the 
expected credit losses, the managing directors have applied significant 
judgement given the low default character of the Company’s loan portfolio. As 
a result, there is limited internal historical data to support and back-test the PD 
and LGD. 

The managing directors have determined that all loans to group companies are 
categorised as stage 1 loans, hence only a twelve-month expected credit loss 
(‘ECL’) has been recognised. 

As disclosed in note 9 to the financial statements, the Company has not 
granted, nor has been requested to grant, any payment holidays on their loans 
to group companies. 

In the absence of internal historical losses and default information, the 
managing directors used data from external data source providers in 
determining the ECL. 

methodology and model applied by the entity were in accordance with the 
impairment requirements of IFRS 9. We assessed the need for forward-
looking information by the client as part of the impairment methodology 
was appropriate considering the characteristics of the loan portfolio of 
Repsol International Finance B.V.; 

• We assessed that the PD and LGD and the assumptions applied by the 
managing directors, are reasonable and were, when possible, based 
upon data from external data source providers including indicators for 
potential management bias; and 

• We have recalculated the impairment recorded in the financial 
statements. 

We found the management board’s assessment to be adequate. Our 
procedures as set out above did not indicate material differences. 

Report on the other information included in the financial 
statements 

The financial statements contains other information. This includes all information in the financial statements in addition to the 
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 

Based on the procedures performed as set out below, we conclude that the other information: 

• is consistent with the financial statements and does not contain material misstatements; and 
• contains all the information regarding the directors' report and the other information that is required by Part 9 of Book 2 of 

the Dutch Civil Code. 

We have read the other information. Based on our knowledge and the understanding obtained in our audit of the financial 
statements or otherwise, we have considered whether the other information contains material misstatements. 

By performing our procedures, we comply with the requirements of Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code and the Dutch 
Standard 720. The scope of such procedures was substantially less than the scope of those procedures performed in our audit 
of the financial statements. 

The management board is responsible for the preparation of the other information, including the directors' report and the other 
information in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. 
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

Our appointment 

We were appointed as auditors of Repsol International Finance B.V. This followed the passing of a resolution by the 
shareholders at the annual general meeting held on 9 October 2017. Our appointment has been renewed annually by 
shareholders and now represents a total period of uninterrupted engagement of 7 years. 

No prohibited non-audit services 

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we have not provided prohibited non-audit services as referred to in article 5(1) of the 
European Regulation on specific requirements regarding statutory audit of public-interest entities. 

Services rendered 

The services, in addition to the audit, that we have provided to the Company, for the period to which our statutory audit relates, 
are disclosed in note 16 to the financial statements. 

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit 

Responsibilities of the management board 

The management board is responsible for: 

• the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as adopted 
by the European Union and Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code; and for 

• such internal control as the management board determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the management board is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern. Based on the financial reporting frameworks mentioned, the management board should prepare the financial 
statements using the going-concern basis of accounting unless the management board either intends to liquidate the Company 
or to cease operations or has no realistic alternative but to do so. The management board should disclose in the financial 
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statements any event and circumstances that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. 

Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our responsibility is to plan and perform an audit engagement in a manner that allows us to obtain sufficient and appropriate 
audit evidence to provide a basis for our opinion. Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high but not absolute level of assurance, and is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with the Dutch Standards on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

Materiality affects the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and the evaluation of the effect of identified 
misstatements on our opinion. 
 
A more detailed description of our responsibilities is set out in the appendix to our report. 
 

Amsterdam, 14 February 2025 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V. 

/PwC_Partner_Signature1/ /PwC_Partner_Signature2/ 

H.C. van der Rijst RA 
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Appendix to our auditor’s report on the financial statements 
2024 of Repsol International Finance B.V. 

In addition to what is included in our auditor’s report, we have further set out in this appendix our responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements and explained what an audit involves. 

The auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements 

We have exercised professional judgement and have maintained professional scepticism throughout the audit in accordance 
with Dutch Standards on Auditing, ethical requirements and independence requirements. Our audit consisted, among other 
things of the following: 

• Identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
designing and performing audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 
or the intentional override of internal control. 

• Obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal 
control. 

• Evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the management board. 

• Concluding on the appropriateness of the management board’s use of the going-concern basis of accounting, and based 
on the audit evidence obtained, concluding whether a material uncertainty exists related to events and/or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report and are made in the context of our opinion on the financial statements as a 
whole. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
evaluating whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

We communicate with the management board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. In this respect, 
we also issue an additional report to the audit committee in accordance with article 11 of the EU Regulation on specific 
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requirements regarding statutory audit of public-interest entities. The information included in this additional report is consistent 
with our audit opinion in this auditor’s report. 

We provide the management board with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 

From the matters communicated with the the management board, we determine those matters that were of most significance in 
the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in 
our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of 
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
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